An amphitheatre and its afterlives: survey and excavation in the Durres amphitheatre

Kim Bowes and Afrim Hoti

with Will Bowden, Karen Francis, John Mitchell, Belissa Muka, Paul Reynolds & Joania Vroom

Introduction

_Dyraractium_ (modern Durres) lay at a true ancient crossroads. An important Adriatic port and one of the western termini of the Via Egnatia, it served as a nodal point binding Italy to the Balkans and Greece to Dalmatia. Yet despite its strategic importance, very little is known of its ancient fabric. A handful of textual sources, a tiny epigraphic corpus and a small number of known monuments provide only a vague impression of the Roman city.

One exception is the amphitheatre, one of the few standing structures and an important example of the building type (fig. 1). Extraordinarily well preserved, its general outlines were revealed by sporadic excavations over three decades. Those excavations also uncovered its most unusual feature, an array of post-Roman features. Both the massive necropolis discovered in the arena floor and two Christian chapels, decorated with wall-mosaics and frescoes, that were built into the amphitheatre's galleries, bear witness to its conversion into a locus of Christian memory. However, its careful investigation by Albanian teams did not result in full publication; an accurate plan of the amphitheatre and the features it contained was lacking, and the date of its construction and despoliation remained unknown.

Loss and rediscovery: a brief history of the excavations

Most Roman amphitheatres in continuously occupied cities were utilized into modern times (e.g., Arles), or were rediscovered and excavated in the 19th or early 20th c. (e.g., Pola and Vésena). Durrës was different: no ancient source attests to its existence, and it made its only appearance in the annals of history in 1501, when Marcellus Barletius penned a brief description of the city and its monuments. It then vanished beneath an accretion of Ottoman houses, invisible even to the probing eyes of Sir Arthur Evans, who went to Durres in 1877 with a copy of Barletius in hand. Yet L. Heuzey's map and aerial photographs of World War II clearly reveal its oval outline in the arrangement of houses and surrounding streets, a pattern still visible from atop the adjacent hillside. Nonetheless, it was not until May 1966 that local archaeologist V. Toçi rediscovered the amphitheatre and initiated its excavation.

Toçi carried out excavations here for nearly two decades, removing over a dozen modern and Ottoman houses from in and around it, and uncovering all of the now-visible sites and most of the galleries on the W side. He also revealed the larger of the two Christian chapels (Chapel 1) with its mosaics and frescoes, as well as a large necropolis in the area (fig. 2). The excavations were resumed from 1983 to 2006 by L. Miraj, with the assistance of NATO troops based nearby, who discovered a large section of its NE side, including the monumental N entrance. She also uncovered a second Christian chapel (Chapel 2) and its frescoes.